2004

Michael Sutter v. Stan Benson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a Summary Judgment entered in the Fifth Judicial District Court by the Honorable G. Rand Beacham finding that Plaintiff's complaint was filed after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to an Order of the Utah Supreme Court issued pursuant to Section 78-2-2(4).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

There are two separate issues in this case:

- 1) Does an Unsigned Minute Entry dispose of a case?
- 2) Do the tolling provisions of the Utah Medical Malpractice Act, Utah Code Section 78-14-12(3)(a), apply to the one-year statute of limitations provided by Utah Code Section 78-12-40 – the Savings Statute?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

There are no facts in dispute; this issue involves a question of law and should be reviewed under the “Legal Correctness” standard.¹

¹ Norman v. Arnold, 2002 UT 81, ¶15, 57 P.3d 997
Stokes v. Wagoneer, 1999 UT 94, ¶6, 987 P.2d 602

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Utah Code Section 78-14-12(3)(a):

The filing of a request for prelitigation panel review under this section tolls the applicable statute of limitations until the earlier of 60 days following the division's issuance of an opinion by the prelitigation panel, or 60 days following the termination of jurisdiction by the division as provided in this subsection. The division shall send any opinion issued by the panel to all parties by regular mail.

Utah Code Section 78-12-40:

If any action is commenced within due time and a judgment thereon for the plaintiff is reversed, or if the plaintiff fails in such action or upon a cause of action otherwise than upon the merits, and the time limited either by law or contract for commencing the same shall have expired, the plaintiff, or if he dies and the cause of action survives, his representatives, may commence a new action within one year after the reversal or failure.

Applicable provisions of Rule 4-504 of the Rules of Judicial Administration²

- (1) In all rulings by a court, counsel for the party or parties obtaining a ruling shall within fifteen days, or within a shorter time as the court may direct, file with the court a proposed order, judgment, or decree in conformity with the ruling.
- (3) Stipulated settlements and dismissals shall also be reduced to writing and presented to the court for signature within fifteen days of the settlement and dismissal.
- (7) No orders, judgments, or decrees based upon stipulation shall be signed and entered unless the stipulation is in writing, signed by the attorneys of record for the respective parties and filed with the clerk of the stipulation was made on the record.

² Applicable at the time of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Complaint was filed in the Fifth District Court by Michael Sutter alleging medical malpractice against Dr. Stan Benson and the Dixie Regional Medical Center. Service was made on the Dixie Regional Medical Center; service had not, yet, been made on Dr. Stan Benson.

Counsel for the Dixie Regional Medical Center filed a Motion to Dismiss based upon Plaintiff's failure to have a Prelitigation Hearing pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Section 78-14-12. In lieu of argument, the parties stipulated to have the case dismissed without prejudice – which would allow Plaintiff the opportunity to have a Prelitigation Hearing and, then, re-file the case pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Section 78-12-40 (providing a one-year statute of limitations to re-file a case not decided upon the merits).

A Prelitigation Hearing was, subsequently, conducted; and a Certificate of Compliance was issued.

Plaintiff, then, filed a new Complaint against Dr. Stan Benson and the Dixie Regional Medical Center. Service was made on both Defendants.

Dixie Regional Medical Center was dismissed.

Defendant Stan Benson filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that the second Complaint was filed beyond the expiration of the one-year statute of limitations provided by Utah Code Section 78-12-40.

The Court granted Defendant Stan Benson's Motion for Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1) Mr. Michael Sutter timely filed a Notice of Intent to Commence Legal Action against Dr. Stan Benson and the Dixie Regional Medical Center.
- 2) Mr. Sutter, subsequently, filed a Complaint alleging medical malpractice against Dr. Stan Benson and the Dixie Regional Medical Center.
- 3) Service was made upon the Dixie Regional Medical Center; Dr. Benson had not, yet, been served.
- 4) Although Mr. Benson timely filed a Notice of Intent to Commence Legal Action upon Dr. Benson and the Dixie Regional Medical Center pursuant to Utah Code Section 78-14-8, Mr. Benson failed to timely file a Request for a Prelitigation Hearing as required by Utah Code Section 78-14-12.
- 5) Counsel for the Dixie Regional Medical Center filed a Motion to Dismiss based upon Mr. Benson's failure to request a prelitigation hearing.
- 6) A Hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was set for April 20, 2000.
- 7) Recognizing the case could not proceed without a Prelitigation Hearing, counsel for Plaintiff and counsel for the Dixie Regional Medical Center agreed to submit a Stipulation to dismiss the case without prejudice so that Plaintiff could request and have a Prelitigation Hearing and, then, re-

file the case within one year after its dismissal pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Section 78-12-40.³

- 8) A Stipulation of Dismissal was submitted to the Court on April 19, 2000 – the day before the scheduled Hearing – so that the Court would find the Stipulation in the file at the time of the Hearing.⁴
- 9) None of the parties was present at the Hearing on April 20, 2000 – the parties having submitted the Stipulation to the Court in lieu of being present (counsel for the Dixie Regional Medical Center being from out-of-town did not want to have to travel to appear in St. George).
- 10) The Minutes of the Hearing on April 20, 2000, stated: “HEARING – There being no one present and a Stipulation to Dismiss (Without Prejudice) [sic] being filed. Court orders this matter dismissed.”⁵
- 11) On May 9, 2000, Plaintiff mailed a second Notice of Intent to Commence Legal Action to Dr. Benson and the Dixie Regional Medical Center in order to re-start the process to request a Prelitigation Hearing.
- 12) On May 11, 2000, Mr. Sutter filed a Request for a Prelitigation Hearing.
- 13) A Prelitigation Hearing was held on September 21, 2000.
- 14) On November 15, 2000, the Panel Opinion was signed.

³ The “Savings Statute”

⁴ Order Granting Stan Benson, M.D.’s Motion for Summary Judgment ¶9

⁵ Order Granting Stan Benson, M.D.’s Motion for Summary Judgment ¶10

- 15) On November 16, 2000, the Division of Occupational and Professional Licensing issued the Prelitigation Panel Opinion and a Certificate of Compliance.
- 16) Prior to filing a new Complaint, and recognizing that Plaintiff had one year, pursuant to Utah Code Section 78-12-40, to re-file a Complaint from the date the initial case had been dismissed, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the Court Clerk via telephone to ascertain the date the initial case had been dismissed in order to calculate the expiration date of the one-year statute of limitations provided by Utah Code Section 78-12-40.
- 17) Plaintiff's counsel knew that a Hearing had been held on April 20, 2000, (at which time Defendant's Motion to dismiss had, likely, been granted based upon the parties' Stipulation); however, Plaintiff's counsel did not know when the opposing counsel had submitted a formal Final Order for the Court's signature nor when that Order had been signed and entered.
- 18) Plaintiff's counsel was informed by the Court Clerk over the telephone that the case had been dismissed on April 24, 2000.
- 19) Accordingly, Plaintiff re-filed a new Complaint on April 23, 2001.
- 20) After being served, Defendant Stan Benson, subsequently, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that the claim was time-barred for failure to file within the one-year statute of limitations provided by Utah

Code Section 78-12-40 asserting that the initial case had, actually, been dismissed on April 20, 2000 – the date of the Hearing on the initial case.

21) Upon a review of the Court’s case file, it was discovered that an unsigned Minute Entry had been entered on the date of the Hearing indicating that the Court had ordered that the case be dismissed; however, there were no subsequent filings (Orders, etc.) in the Court’s file – no formal Order had been submitted to the Court, and no signed Order existed in the file!

22) Unable to locate any documentation in the Court’s file indicating that the case had been dismissed on April 24, 2000 – as Plaintiff’s counsel had been informed by the Court Clerk over the telephone, Plaintiff’s counsel searched the Court’s computer’s data file for any additional information; therein, Plaintiff’s counsel discovered a computer-generated document entitled “CASE HISTORY” which stated: “CASE DEPOSITION – 4/24/2000 Dismsd [sic] w/o prejudice by Judge G. RAND BEACHAM”.⁶

23) A Hearing was, subsequently, held on Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that the new Complaint had not been timely filed.

24) At the Hearing, discussion was heard regarding the lack of a formal Order. Furthermore, the Court entertained Plaintiff’s observation that, even if the initial case had been dismissed on April 20, 2000 (the date of

⁶ A Copy is attached.

the Hearing on the initial case), the one-year statute of limitations in which to re-file the case had been tolled pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Section 78-14-12 – which provides that the applicable statute of limitations is tolled during the Prelitigation Hearing process; therefore, the applicable one-year statute of limitations had not expired.⁷

25) The Court concluded that, although no formal Order had been signed, the initial case had been dismissed on April 20, 2000 (the date of the Hearing on the initial case at which no parties were present) and that, accordingly, Plaintiff's new Complaint had not been timely filed.

26) Defendant (the prevailing party) prepared and submitted a proposed Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

27) Plaintiff's counsel submitted an objection to said Order indicating that Defendant's proposed Order failed to address the Court's decision on the application of the tolling provisions to the one-year statute of limitations.

28) The Court signed an Order prepared by Defendant's counsel. The Court, also, prepared and entered a Memorandum Decision addressing

⁷ Although the issue had not been briefed by the parties before the Hearing, Plaintiff's counsel had informed Defendant's counsel of the issue before the date of the Hearing and both parties were prepared and did make arguments during the Hearing regarding the effect of the tolling provisions on the case.

Plaintiff's argument that the applicable one-year statute of limitations had been tolled during the Prelitigation Hearing process.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A case is not disposed of unless and until an Order is signed and entered.

Many past Utah appellate cases clearly indicate that an unsigned minute entry does is not a final judgment and does not dispose of a case.

In this case, because there is only an unsigned minute entry granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and there is no signed order, there has been no final judgment entered and the case, technically, is still open.

Accordingly, the one-year statute of limitations provided by Utah Code Section 78-12-40 has not, yet, begun to run!

Thus, Plaintiff has timely filed the second complaint.

Even if the case has been closed as the result of an unsigned minute entry, the one-year statute of limitations in which to re-file a complaint was tolled during the Prelitigation Hearing process and Plaintiff's second complaint was timely filed.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

FIRST ISSUE

IS AN UNSIGNED MINUTE ENTRY A FINAL JUDGMENT

One issue in this case is whether the initial case has ever been formally disposed of because there has never been a signed Order entered by the Court.

This issue has been addressed by this Court on numerous occasions in the past. The important purpose of requiring a formal signed Order is to provide a definitive time for the final disposition of a case.

Plaintiff argues that there needs to be a formal SIGNED Order to dispose of a case.

The Defendant and the trial court, apparently, suggest that the Court's oral granting of the Motion to Dismiss during a Hearing is sufficient to dispose of a case and that no formal Order need be signed and/or entered by the court.

There must be some order in the administration of justice – can there be one date that a case is disposed of if no formal Order is signed and entered and a different date if a formal Order is later signed and entered by a Court?

For example, in this case, if Defendant's counsel had, subsequent to the Hearing, submitted an Order to the Court for the Court's signature (as required by Rule 4-504 of the, then applicable, Rules of Judicial Administration) this case would have been disposed of on date that Order was signed and entered by

the Court; yet, because no formal written Order was submitted to the Court for the Court's signature, the date the case is deemed disposed of is the date the Court stated it granted Defendant's motion during a Hearing.

Such an administration of justice would create chaos!

As stated in the case of Lukich v. Utah Const. Co.⁸:

If there is a judgment, there is a right way to show it.

In Ron Shepherd Insurance, Inc. v. Shields,⁹ the Court noted:

[A]n unsigned minute entry was made which reads in pertinent part:

This case is before the court for hearing on defendant's motion for summary judgment, . . . The motion is argued to the court by counsel and submitted. The court being fully advised grants the motion . . .¹⁰

The Court, further, noted that:

At no time did Judge Lewis sign an order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment or a judgment entering summary judgment in favor of defendants.

The Court, addressing the issue, stated:

⁸ Lukich v. Utah Const. Co., 150 P. 298 (Utah 1915)

⁹ Ron Shepherd Insurance Inc. v. Shields, 882 P.2d 650 (Utah 1994)

¹⁰ Ron Shepherd Insurance at 652

That ruling appeared only as an unsigned minute entry. It is well settled that '[a]n unsigned minute entry does not constitute an entry of judgment, nor is it a final judgment for purposes of [appeal] {sic}.' [citations omitted] {sic} Because Judge Lewis never signed an order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment nor entered judgment thereon, there is not a final order or judgment by Judge Lewis to be considered.

In Swenson Associates Architects, P.C. v. State . . .,¹¹ where a party argued that a signed minute entry constituted the 'first signed order' and that the final order was "simply superfluous," the Court stated:

This court has recognized that in appropriate circumstances, a signed minute entry *may be* [sic] a final order for purposes of appeal. [citations omitted] However, such treatment is appropriate only where "the ruling specifies with certainty a final determination of the rights of the parties and is susceptible of enforcement." [citations omitted] It must be clear that that "which is offered as the record of a judgment is really such and not an order for a judgment or a mere memorandum from which the judgment

¹¹ Swenson Associates Architects, P.C. v. State By and Through Div. Of Facilities Const., 889 P.2d 415 (Utah 1994)

was to be drawn." *Hartford Accident & Indem. Co. v. Clegg*, 103 Utah 414, 420, 135 P.2d 919, 922 (1943) (quoting 33 C.J. *Judgments* § 118 (1924)).¹²

The Court went on to note:

In *Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co.*, this court held that a minute entry signed by the trial court stating that "[t]he within entitled matter having been by the court taken under advisement, the court now renders its decision that judgment be entered against the plaintiff and in favor of the defendant," *id.* at 419, 135 P.2d at 921, was not itself a final order.¹³

In the case of State v. Gerrard,¹⁴ the Supreme Court stated:

While we have not found a Utah criminal case dealing with this specific issue, the law is well settled in the state that the statements made by a trial judge are not the judgment of the case and it is only the signed judgment that prevails.¹⁵

In Watson v. Odell,¹⁶ the Supreme Court made an important observation:

[O]n the 28th day of August [1917], . . . [the trial court] granted

¹² Swenson at 417 {emphasis added}

¹³ Swenson at 417 {emphasis added}

¹⁴ State v. Gerrard, 584 P.2d 885 (Utah 1978)

¹⁵ Gerrard at 887

¹⁶ Watson v. Odell, 176 P. 619 (Utah 1918)

the motion for nonsuit in an oral opinion in which the court gives its reasons at length why the motion should be granted, which opinion ends as follows:

"For these reasons the motion for nonsuit is granted, and an order may be entered dismissing the case."

It further appears that the plaintiff's counsel, desiring to appeal from the judgment dismissing the action, and discovering that no formal judgment of dismissal had been entered, on the 2d day of March, 1918, requested the clerk of said court to enter a formal judgment of dismissal; that the clerk, pursuant to said request, on said day caused a blank form of judgment of dismissal to be filled out and filed in his office; that said judgment was not entered in any book or record until the 20th day of March following; that counsel for plaintiff, assuming that the judgment had been formally entered on said 2d day of March, duly served and filed a notice of appeal in due form on said day.

Upon the record the defendants now contend that, if it be held that the ruling of the district court granting the motion for nonsuit and ordering the action dismissed is an appealable judgment, then the notice of appeal which was served and filed as aforesaid was not

served and filed within the time required by our statute, namely, within six months from the entry of judgment, and hence this court has no jurisdiction of the appeal. Upon the other hand, they contend that if it be held that the order of August 29, 1917, is not an appealable judgment, then this appeal is premature, since the judgment filed by the clerk on March 2, 1918, was not entered until March 20, 1918.

This court has held that an order similar to the one made by the district court on August 29, 1917, is not a final and appealable judgment. *Lukich v. Utah Construction Co.*, 46 Utah, 317, 150 Pac. 298. In the same case reported in 48 Utah, 452, 160 Pac. 270, it was further held that the time for an appeal begins to run from the actual entry of the judgment of dismissal. Those cases have repeatedly been followed by this court in rulings from the bench, and numerous appeals have been dismissed because no formal judgment of dismissal had been entered. The rule laid down in those cases has thus become the settled practice of this court. Counsel for neither side question the soundness of those cases, and we can see no reason why the rule should not be adhered to. It is the only safe course to pursue. No one should be left in doubt

respecting the record of a judgment nor where it is entered or can be found.¹⁷

In the case of State v. Jiminez,¹⁸ the Court noted:

We must dismiss defendant's appeal because his notice of appeal was prematurely filed. . . . In *Swenson Associates Architects v. State*, 889 P.2d 415, 416 (Utah 1994), the plaintiff filed a timely post-trial motion, which was denied in a signed minute entry. The plaintiff filed his appeal within thirty days of this minute entry but four days before the court issued its written order denying the new trial motion. We ruled that this court lacked jurisdiction because the plaintiff had filed his notice of appeal before the trial court entered its order.¹⁹ Defendant seeks to distinguish this case from *Swenson* on the ground that the unsigned minute entry entered by the trial court in the instant case did not direct either counsel to prepare a formal written order denying the motion, as was the case in *Swenson*. That distinction is unavailing since the minute entry in this case was unsigned, and we have consistently dismissed

¹⁷ Watson at 619 {emphasis added}

¹⁸ State v. Jiminez, 938 P.2d 264 (Utah 1997)

¹⁹ The Court, here, is referring to the formal written Order – even though there was a signed minute entry.

appeals from unsigned minute entries. *See, e.g., South Salt Lake v. Burton*, 718 P.2d 405 (Utah 1986) (citing numerous cases holding same) [sic].²⁰

In Utah Farm Production Credit Ass'n v. Watts,²¹ the Court noted:

Since the prepared order was never signed by the court and the ruling only appears as an unsigned minute entry, we have no jurisdiction to rule on this issue.

In Ahlstrom v. Anderson,²² the Court noted:

That same day, an unsigned minute entry was entered by the clerk indicating that the motion had been denied. No final order was thereafter signed or entered in the record. An unsigned minute entry is not a final appealable order. [citations omitted]

In Sather v. Gross,²³ the Court recognized that an unsigned minute entry does not constitute a final judgment:

The trial court granted the motion by an unsigned minute entry . . .

No order appears in the record and apparently none was entered.

An appeal can be taken only from the entry of a final judgment

²⁰ Jiminez at 265 {emphasis added}

²¹ Utah Farm Production Credit Ass'n v. Watts, 737 P.2d 154, 162 (Utah 1987)

²² Ahlstrom v. Anderson, 728 P.2d 979 (Utah 1986)

²³ Sather v. Gross, 727 P.2d 212, 213 (Utah 1986)

that concludes the action. [citations omitted] An unsigned minute entry does not constitute a final judgment for purposes of appeal and this Court has no jurisdiction to consider the merits of plaintiff's appeal.

In South Salt Lake v. Burton,²⁴ the Court noted:

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