2004

# Michael Sutter v. Stan Benson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The non-appealability of the stipulated dismissal eliminates the need for a final entry of judgment. Given that all parties agreed to the dismissal, and they themselves drafted a document detailing and memorializing the agreement, no final entry of judgment was needed, and the district court's order sufficed to dismiss the complaint.

Many of Sutter's cited cases are inapposite for another reason. They focus on situations where a court has ruled on a motion, recorded the ruling in its minutes, and explicitly stated that a final written order was forthcoming. *See Swenson, supra*, 889 P.2d 415 (Utah 1994); *Watson, supra*, 176 P. 619 (Utah 1918); *State v. Jiminez*, 938 P.2d 264 (Utah 1997); *Wilson v. Manning*, 645 P.2 655 (Utah 1982). When the rulings in these cases were appealed, each was dismissed because the notice of appeal had been filed before the final order was entered. It makes sense that when a district court makes a ruling stating that a future order will be signed, no appeal can lie from the initial ruling. The present case does not fit into this category of cases, because the district court made no indication any further order would be issued or required. The district court, in fact, intended that the complaint be dismissed by stipulation and meant for its minute entry to be its dismissal order on the case. In its ruling on Dr. Benson's Motion for Summary Judgment, the district court stated that the case was dismissed on April 20, 2000—evidencing its own intention to dismiss that case with its minute entry order. R. 116. In the absence of some reason to expect some other word from the court on the voluntary

dismissal stipulation and motion, the district court's minute entry serves as a final order on the matter.

3. Even If a Final Judgment for Purposes of Appeal Were Required Here, the Court's Minute Entry Would Suffice.

Sutter cites a bevy of cases meant to convince the court that no decision can be honored if recorded only in a court's minutes. This is assuredly not the case. Several Utah cases exist in which courts have heard appeals from decisions rendered in minute entries alone. In *Dove v. Cude*, the Supreme Court took up the issue of whether it could hear an appeal from a district court's grant of a motion to withdraw a stipulation, which was recorded as a minute entry. 710 P.2d 170, 171 n. 1 (Utah 1985). The Court determined that the minute entry constituted a final order, reasoning that "[b]y permitting withdrawal of the stipulation, the district court determined the rights of the parties in this case." *Id.*

In *McNair v. Hayward*, the Supreme Court heard an appeal from a denial of a criminal defendant's petition for writ of habeas corpus. 666 P.2d 321, 325 n.1 (Utah 1984). In reviewing the history of the case, the Court noted multiple motions to dismiss, which had all been denied by minute entries. The Court held that each of these denials was a final order for purposes of appeal. *Id.*

The test for determining when a court's decision can be treated as a final order was elaborated in *Cannon v. Keller*, 692 P.2d 740 (Utah 1984). *See Dove*, 710 P.2d at 171

n.1; *Swenson*, 889 P.2d at 417. The *Cannon* Court was faced with whether to hear an appeal from a lower court's memorandum decision ordering a party to disclose the identity of a witness to a criminal transaction. The Court decided to treat the memorandum decision as a final order, because "the ruling specifies with certainty a final determination of the rights of the parties and is susceptible of enforcement." *Cannon*, 692 P.2d at 741 n.1.

This test weighs in favor of treating the district court's dismissal of Sutter's complaint as a final order. The order made a final determination of each party's rights, as stated more fully in the stipulation submitted by the parties. No question remained as to whether the case was still active, whether either party could appeal, or whether some future order would issue on the matter. Every question and claim remaining in the case was completely resolved and disposed of in the order. Thus, there is no reason not to treat the district court's dismissal as a final order.

4. Sutter Is Not Helped by His Citation to the Rules of Judicial Administration.

Sutter appears to rely on Rule 4-504 of the Rules of Judicial Administration for further support of his position that the district court's order of dismissal had no effect. *See* Appellant's Brief, at 8. And yet the Rules of Judicial Administration which governed the case at the time of the dismissal makes specific provisions for approval of stipulated dismissals. Rule 4-504.01 provides: "(1) in all rulings by the court, counsel for the party or parties obtaining a ruling shall within fifteen days, or within a shorter time as the court

may direct, file with the court a proposed order, judgment, or decree in conformity with the ruling.” Utah R. Judicial Admin. 4-504.01 (repealed). Sutter suggests that the district court should have required one of the parties to memorialize its order by submitting a proposed order to be signed by the district court. This suggestion is negated, however, by sections (3) and (7) of the same rule:

(3) Stipulated settlements and dismissals shall also be reduced to writing and presented to the court for signature within fifteen days of the settlement and dismissal. . . . (7) No orders, judgments, or decrees based upon stipulation shall be signed and entered unless the stipulation is in writing, signed by the attorneys of record for the respective parties and filed with the clerk or the stipulation was made on the record.

Utah R. Judicial Admin, 4-504.3,7 (repealed).

Rule 4-504 expressly outlines that stipulations for dismissal are to be handled differently than other kinds of orders. In the sections concerning stipulations, the sole requirement is that the stipulation be reduced to writing and submitted to the court soon after the agreement is reached.

The district court and the parties fulfilled the requirements of Rule 4-504 perfectly. After reaching an agreement, the parties submitted a signed stipulation to the court, which the court approved and granted, recording the order in its minutes. To require yet another writing from the parties, restating exactly what they had already recorded in their stipulation, would have been nonsensical and redundant— nothing had changed since they

submitted the stipulation, so nothing could be added to it. The stipulation was an accurate depiction of the agreement between the parties, and, once approved by the court, properly reflected the final disposition of the case.

Sutter has not provided this Court any reason to reject the district court's April 20, 2000 order of dismissal. For the reasons set forth *supra*, the Court should affirm the district court's finding that Sutter's complaint was dismissed as of April 20, 2000.

**B. The Savings Statute Cannot Be Tolloed by the Malpractice Act and Sutter's Claims Are Time-barred.**

**1. When the District Court Entered Dismissal of Sutter's First Filed Complaint on April 20, 2000, the Statute of Limitations Had Already Run.**

Sutter was allegedly injured on May 26, 1997. Under Utah Code Section 78-14-4(1), the statute allowed Sutter two years from the date of his injury to file his claim. On May 26, 1999, the last day Sutter could file his claim, he mailed to Dr. Benson a notice of intent to commence action. Because Sutter's notice of intent was served fewer than ninety days prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, Sutter's time for commencing his malpractice action was extended 120 days from the date of service of the notice of intent. *See* U.C.A. § 78-14-8. As a result, Sutter's deadline for commencing his malpractice action was extended to September 23, 1999.

At no time prior to September 23, 1999 did Sutter file a request for hearing which would have tolled the statute of limitations during the prelitigation process had he made the request. Sutter, however, apparently believing that he had complied with the



prelitigation requirements of the Malpractice Act, Sutter filed a complaint on September 22, 1999. Dixie Regional Medical Center, the only party served with that complaint, moved to dismiss it for failure to comply with the Malpractice Act's prelitigation requirements. The district court scheduled a hearing on the motion and the day before the hearing, Sutter filed a stipulation to dismiss the first filed complaint. Neither Sutter nor Dixie appeared at the hearing held by the district court and the court recognized and accepted the parties' stipulated dismissal and entered its order of dismissal by minute entry on April 20, 2000.

Because the statute of limitations on his malpractice claims had already expired on September 23, 1999, Sutter's claims, which he voluntarily dismissed on April 20, 2000, were no longer timely. In order to refile his claims, Sutter turned to the savings statute, which applies only to those cases where "the plaintiff fails in such action or upon a cause of action otherwise than upon the merits, and the time limited either by law or contract for commencing the same shall have expired . . . ." *See* U.C.A § 78-12-40. Thus, Sutter's ability to invoke the savings statute was conditioned on the fact that the applicable statute of limitations had already expired. Hence, there is no question that the statute of limitations for the filing of Sutter's malpractice action had expired before his case was dismissed on April 20, 2000.

2. The Savings Statute Is Not a Statute of Limitations and Cannot Be Tolloed.

Given that the statute of limitations had expired, Sutter's only remaining option for refileing his complaint was the savings statute. Sutter now seeks to apply the tolling provisions of the Malpractice Act to toll the savings statute to accommodate his tardiness in refileing his complaint. The savings statute cannot be treated as a statute of limitations for purposes of tolling under the Malpractice Act for two reasons: First, the savings statute only becomes applicable when the statute of limitations has already run; and second, there is no legal precedence, either statutory or judicial for applying the savings statute as a statute of limitations.

Under the Malpractice Act, the "applicable statute of limitations" governing the action is tolled during the prelitigation process when the claimant files a request for hearing. *See* U.C.A. § 78-14-12(3)(a). In order for Sutter to rely on the savings statute, the statute of limitations must already have run on his claims. Sutter may not now claim the right to refile his complaint under the savings statute and treat the savings statute as if it were a statute of limitation and seek to have the savings statute tolled by the Malpractice Act.

The "applicable statute of limitations" governing Sutter's claims is found in the Malpractice Act. *See* U.C.A. § 78-14-4 (two-year statute of limitations). As set forth *supra*, the two-year statute of limitations applicable to Sutter's claim expired on September 23, 1999.

Sutter attempts to extricate himself from this dead end by reading the phrase “applicable statute of limitations” to refer to the savings statute. This reading is not supported in law. Sutter’s disconnection from the law on this point is evidenced by his habit of referring to the savings statute throughout his brief as the “statute of limitations provided by Utah Code Section 78-12-40.” *See, e.g.,* Appellant’s Brief, pp. 5, 28. Nothing in the statute hints that it could be or should be labeled as a “statute of limitation.” Further, there is not a single Utah case that refers to the savings statute as a statute of limitation as Sutter does. On the contrary, Utah Courts are consistently careful to refer to the savings statute and statutes of limitations separately, even when dealing with both kinds of statutes in the same case. *See, e.g., McBride-Williams v. Huard*, 2004 UT 21, ¶14, 94 P.3d 175, 178 (holding that the savings statute and the Malpractice Act’s statute of limitations, ‘to the extent that they relate to one another . . . ,’ are motivated by different policy concerns); *Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co.*, 2003 UT 8, 70 P.3d 1 (writing that “savings statute suspends enforcement of statute of limitations . . . .”); *also Kittredge v. Shaddy*, 2001 UT 7, 20 P.3d 285. While it is clear that these two statutes regularly interact, it is also clear that they are different. Rather than becoming a new, provisional statute of limitations, when the savings statute is activated, it “suspends enforcement” of the statute of limitations. *Grynberg*, 2003 UT at ¶29, 70 P.3d at 29.

Had the Utah State Legislature intended the Malpractice Act’s tolling provisions to apply to the savings statute as well as to “applicable statutes of limitations,” it could

easily have used more expansive language. Broad references to legal time constraints are included in other statutes. Indeed, the savings statute itself applies to cases which were filed “in due time,” broadly including any action timely brought before the courts in its first instance, albeit under circumstances in which the relevant statute of limitations has been modified, extended, or abrogated. *See, e.g., Hebertson v. Bank One*, 995 P.2d 7 (Utah Ct. App. 1999)(savings statute allowed to run serially as long as first filed and intermediate complaints are “in due time.”). Thus, there is no question that the legislature is capable of drafting language as expansive as that desired by Mr. Sutter in his reading of the Malpractice Act. And yet, despite this capability, the drafters of the Malpractice Act decided to toll only the “the applicable statute of limitations.”

“In matters of statutory construction, the best evidence of the true intent and purpose of the Legislature in enacting [an] act is the plain language of the act.” *Platts v. Parents Helping Parents*, 947 P.2d 658, at 662 (Utah 1997). Given that the Legislature was capable of crafting the Malpractice Act’s tolling provisions to apply to the savings statute by using expansive language similar to that in the savings statute, but chose not to, the plain language of the Act must be heeded. The Court, therefore, should apply the Malpractice Act as expressly written and limit its tolling provision only to the “applicable statute of limitations.”

There is no case in which the Utah savings statute's one-year refiling period has ever been tolled or extended in any way.<sup>1</sup> Indeed, there is no authority for taking such a step. The statute plainly reads that “. . . the plaintiff . . . may commence a new action within *one year* after the reversal or failure.” See U.C.A. § 78-12-40 (emphasis added). Every Utah case that has taken up the issue of the savings statute has allowed exactly one year to refile dismissed cases—no more and no less. This fact also lends support to the idea that the savings statute has never been considered to be a statute of limitations—otherwise, cases might exist in which the savings statute had been tolled. Given the clarity of the statute and the lockstep approach of the Courts, Sutter's suggestion that the savings statute can somehow be tolled or expanded is without merit.

**C. Sutter's Failure to Refile His Malpractice Claim Within the One-Year Period Provided Under the Savings Statute Is Fatal to His Claims.**

The above arguments combine to emphasize an important conclusion in this case: the only way Sutter could have successfully refiled his claim against Dr. Benson was to file a notice of intent or complaint on or before April 20, 2000. He was barred by the applicable statute of limitations from filing any suit after September 23, 2000. This meant that his only remaining option after the dismissal was the savings statute, which offered exactly one year in which to refile the lawsuit. Given that Sutter's case was

---

<sup>1</sup>Of course, the one-year period can be used multiple times in sequence, as stated in *Hebertson*, 995 P.2d 7. But this practice simply constitutes the serial invocation of the statute, rather than an interruption of its mandated time period.

dismissed on April 20, 2000 by the Court's acceptance of the stipulated dismissal and its minute entry, Sutter was required to refile his case by April 20, 2001. It is undisputed that he failed to do so. Thus, Sutter is now completely barred from re-commencing his lawsuit against Dr. Benson. For these reasons, the district court's ruling of summary judgment was appropriate and should be affirmed by this Court.

## **X. CONCLUSION**

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